The W. Lawson King Farms  - Irvington Farm

Mr. King acquired the first 122-acre parcel of the four parcels comprising the King Farm in 1925 from James W. Graff. (Montgomery Co. Land Records)  The existing buildings at 16000 Frederick Road are on the site of the Graff farmstead.    Next, W. Lawson King bought the Frank Ricketts farm on Shady Grove Road, about 100 acres of cleared land which extended to the west side of 270.  Mr. Rickets was a County Commissioner and has an adult daughter still living in Woodfield, MD.

King next purchased “ The Watkins Farm” and then the Fields Farm.  These were purchased in 1940 and 1942. (Land Records)  The Fields Farm was a horse farm while the Watkins Farm was a comprehensive farming operation. (Billy King says the farm where the elementary school is to be built has some rare trees, not grown elsewhere in the County.)   Mr. King used both of them for his dairy operation.  One was used for grazing land and the other for grain crops to feed the cattle.    Eventually King milked 100 cows every day and delivered the milk by King Farm milk tank trucks to the processors. 

W. Lawson King was also a businessman.  In addition to farms from Cedar Grove, MD to Darnestown, he owned and operated King Motor Company which opened in 1928 in the J.W. Belt Building in Gaithersburg. Eventually, he operated automobile dealerships in Gaithersburg and Rockville and then consolidated them at King Pontiac adjacent to his farm on Route 355. He also owned a number of retail establishments in Olde Towne Gaithersburg, including most of the block containing Diamond Drug and the parking lot behind these buildings as well as other farms in Montgomery County.  

Family History

W. Lawson King had been in the Gaithersburg-Rockville area since the 1920’s, but was born and raised on a family dairy farm in Cedar Grove, MD.   (Idella Leaman  [ John Leaman’s mother] in Germantown cared for his parents in their elder years and could be a source of information.)  His wife, Cordelia Fulks, was the daughter of I.T. Fulks, another businessman and farmer who lived nearby at Newport Farm near Washington Grove. The Fulks family is one of Gaithersburg’s oldest founding families still residing in the area.  Cordelia Elizabeth Fulks was trained at a teacher’s college in Washington, D.C. and taught at one-room schools in Dickerson, Quince Orchard and others.

W. Lawson King married Cordelia Elizabeth Fulks on  (date) .  The first of their three children was a boy, William Irving King and known as ”Billy”,  born on December 21, 1921 at the farm near Washington Grove. 

Irvington Farms Dairy

Lawson King was already schooled by his family to dairying when he bought the Graff Farm.  The farm is not known as “The King Farm” to the King Family, as that name was already taken by another farm to register their cattle and sell milk.  Unable to decide upon a farm name, the farm was given the name “Irvington” by Cordelia Fulks King after her brother, Irving Fulks, who also inspired Billy’s middle name, William Irving King.  According to Billy King, his mother sent in the registration papers with the Irvington Farm name without telling Mr. King and had some trepidation about it until it was revealed and pronounced suitable by all. 

Although the Graff farm was not a specialized operation, King converted it to a dairy farm.  Initially, he had a mixed herd of 20 cows.  Then, when dairy customers wanted richer milk with more cream and butterfat, he bought Guernsey cows.   The Guernseys eventually developed a disease, brucellosis, and were replaced by Holstein Cows.   Irvington Farms eventually developed the largest Holstein herd in the world and sold cows from their champion stock internationally.  In 1932, King built a new dairy barn for 40 cows and later extended it to accommodate 100 cows.  At his peak, Lawson King milked 500 cows in Montgomery County and Irvington Farm was the largest single shipper of milk to Washington, D.C. 

Mr. King trucked the milk to the Maryland-Virginia Milk Producer’s Association in Washington D.C. (now in VA) in 10-gallon milk cans.  Lawson King and later his son, Billy, both served on the Milk Producers Association Board of Directors.  They did not sell to one dairy or label, but to the cooperative milk producers association.  For the first 14 years, all milking was done by hand. It took about two hours to milk 40 cows. The farm did not get milking machines until after 1939. Other than cows, the farm raised hay, corn and grain to feed the livestock.  

BUILDINGS AND USES

The present residence was built by James Graff in 1914 (Sentinel article), so was existing when W. Lawson King purchased the farm in 1925.  Billy King relates that a colored man named “Uncle Buck” who lived on the corner where the Amoco Station is,  told him that he helped haul the lumber for the house from Travillah’s piney woods for Mr. Graff.  Mr. Graff (Land records) had given this colored man a one-acre piece of land. 

The 1914 house is basically intact.  The bathroom and kitchen have been changed somewhat and two new half baths were added to the first story.  The rear sleeping and utility porches were enclosed.  The house had a coal-burning furnace with hot water radiators and electricity. It does not have central air conditioning and is still supplied by wells for water and a septic system rather than sewers  in 1998.

The house was occupied by the King family plus four farm hands (male) who lived on the second floor.  A family of four “colored” people lived in the basement.  Mrs. King did all the cooking for the household and needed hired help.  They all ate in the kitchen except the colored people ate on the porch. 

The house down the hill towards King Pontiac was known as the “Johnny Morris House” to Billy King.  It was never called the farm manager’s house since they did not have a farm manager. Billy worked with his father from childhood and eventually became the “farm manager”.  Johnny Morris was “ a boy that came to live there”.  Billy King was under the impression that Morris’ house was also the old Graff house.   Lois and Conrad Aschenbach who plan to expand King Pontiac onto the land, presently own the house.  The interior has been remodeled and is said by the resident electrician,  Kevin  xxxx, to appear to date from the 1940’s.  The house may need a professional evaluation.   Billy said his father subscribed to the theory that if he stuccoed older houses, they would not be eligible for historic designation so he proceeded to do so with all the older farmhouses. 

A number of buildings on the Graff Farm were destroyed by a tornado in 1925.  This included a carriage and stable behind the house, and a chicken coop.  The garage and smokehouse were built in their place.  Behind the garage is the “horse barn” which Lawson King converted to a place for two farm hands to reside. It has had several additions.  The next house and barn were added by W. Lawson King.  

A fire started by lightening on May 30, 1932 destroyed the bank barn, corn house, chicken coop, and smokehouse.  Fire companies from Rockville and Gaithersburg-Washington Grove answered the call but did not have tanker trucks and the farm wells were inadequate to extinguish the fires.  The burned buildings were the chicken coop and smoke house where the garage now sits,  the corn house on the driveway circle, and the old Graff barn  to the left of the corn house.   Billy and his sister, Betty Jeanne, were locked into the sleeping porch during the fire to keep them out of the way, but they were able to see the firemen and the blaze. 

After the fire, Lawson King built the double 40-cow barn that is now on the property and is much expanded.  It was twice the size of the destroyed old bank barn that was located in the open space between the fence and the present barns.  Originally there were two silos for each barn, but the metal silos of the first barn rusted out.  The cement blocks in the barns were all made at the cement block plant in Washington Grove.  The smaller center cement block barn was a horse barn.  Behind that were sheds for farm equipment and more cow and calf barns.  

National Recognition of Irvington Farm

Billy King has a collection of photographs of the many award winning champion cows and bulls that were raised on the farm. He also has a collection of clippings from newspapers and farm journals, one of  which touted it as a “model dairy farm” for a busload of touring dairy industry visitors.  He and his father sat on many agriculturally related Boards, including the Federal Farm Land Bank??  Check name.

Lois King Aschenbach told us that her father employed German POW’s from the POW camp outside Gaithersburg on Snouffer School Road as farm hands.  Because he was forbidden to pay them money, Mr. King gave them cigarettes each week.  Lois told a story on herself.  She and a girl friend got into the cigarettes and smoked them behind the barn.  Her father figured out what they had done. Instead of scolding them, he asked her if she would like a cigar to try also. That cured her.

Artifacts

At his Gaithersburg house, Billy King has many photographs, documents and objects from Irvington Farm:    His mother’s mahogany sofa and two side chairs, his grandmother’s chair, milking pails, his red milking stool and an old “original” milking stool,  a cement bench made at the Fulks cement block plant and a cast iron planter than was in the farmstead back yard.   He believes Betty Jeanne has his mother’s family photos and some scrap books.

Death and Taxes: The end of the family farm.

The demise of the King Farm illustrates the modern dilemma of farmers and owners of family farms when development pressures mount. The break up of the family farm became inevitable when Lawson King’s death forced the heirs to mortgage the farm in order to pay inheritance taxes on the value of the land.  Because of its value as development property, the tax amount exceeded their capital funds.    Irvington Farm was prime real estate owing to its location between a Metro Rail Station and an interstate highway.  It was valued in the hundreds of millions of dollars in the building boom of the 1980s when Lawson King died.  The family heirs mortgaged the farm to pay the taxes but the market failed and the land could not be sold for the necessary price to redeem it.   It was foreclosed upon and sold for about 40 million dollars, or 10% of its 1980 estimate.   

